STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Common Pleas

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

HON. MAITE M. MURPHY, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE  
Civil Action No.: 2017-CP-02-00283  
Appellate Case No.: 2019-001142

---

**RECEIVED**

**Aug 13 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

SOHAIL ABDULLA ..... APPELLANT

VS.

SOUTHERN BANK .....RESPONDENT

---

**APPELLANT'S BRIEF**

---

Tucker S. Player (S.C. Bar No. 16217)  
Player Law Firm  
1415 Broad River Rd.  
Columbia, SC 29210  
(803) 772-8008  
Attorney for Appellant

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. THE LOWER COURT'S DECISION CONTAINED NUMEROUS ERRORS OF FACT THAT WERE WHOLLY UNSUPPORTED BY THE RECORD
- II. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT RESPONDENT'S DELAY IN FILING ITS MOTION TO DISMISS WAS NOT UNREASONABLE DELAY UNDER *MAYBANK V. BB&T CORP.*
- III. THE LOWER COURT'S DECISION WAS CONTROLLED BY TWO SUBSTANTIVE ERRORS OF LAW AND MUST BE REVERSED

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Appellant filed a complaint in Aiken County alleging conversion of certain vault contents belonging to Appellant on February 8, 2017. On January 19, 2018, the parties received notice that this matter was scheduled for trial during the week of February 26, 2018. Respondent made a motion to dismiss based on lack of jurisdiction two weeks after that notice, little more than three weeks before it was scheduled for trial. A hearing was held on April 2, 2018. The motion was granted on May 11, 2018. Appellant filed a motion for reconsideration on May 21, 2018. Judge Murphy denied the motion for reconsideration on June 13, 2019. This appeal was timely filed and served on July 12, 2019.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant has been a citizen and resident of South Carolina since 2010. In 2007, Respondent filed a proof of claim in the Chapter 11 Bankruptcy of Appellant's business. **R.100.** In that proof of claim, Respondent asserted under oath that it held certain jewelry and other valuables owned by Appellant in its vault as collateral on the business loan.

In 2010, while a citizen of South Carolina, Appellant requested all documents related to his property, loans, and personal guarantees be provided by Respondent. Respondent provided no information about the personal items it claimed it held in the vault. **R.131.**

In 2016, Appellant again requested an accounting of the items in the vault. It was at this point, for the first time, that Respondent claimed the items were "removed" from the vault in 2004. This assertion directly contradicted the sworn Proof of Claim filed in Bankruptcy. Appellant subsequently filed a lawsuit on February 8, 2017. Plaintiff alleged that sometime between 2007 and 2016, the contents of the vault were converted by Respondent. The Complaint did not allege that the filing of a proof of bankruptcy claim was a tortious act of any kind. The basis for jurisdiction was the South Carolina Long Arm Statute, S.C. Code § 36-2-803.

While Respondent did claim that this Court lacked personal jurisdiction over it in its Answer, Respondent filed a counterclaim in this Court, engaged in written discovery, deposed Appellant, and waited approximately one year before seeking dismissal based on lack of jurisdiction. The motion was not filed until after this case appeared on a trial roster in Aiken County. On February 2, 2018, Respondent filed its motion to dismiss. A hearing was held on April 2, 2018 at which Appellant clearly explained the legal arguments of Appellant to the lower court. Counsel for Appellant clearly stated in that hearing that: (1) the basis of the tort was not

the filing of any proof of claim but the conversion of the property while Appellant was a citizen of South Carolina; and (2) the basis for long arm jurisdiction was the commitment of tort against a citizen of South Carolina. **R., p.93, l.9 through p.95, l.18.** Despite these specific, unambiguous arguments, the lower court made findings of fact and law that are wholly unsupported by the record.

The lower court eventually granted the motion to dismiss on May 11, 2018. There were numerous errors in the Order dismissing the case, including the baseless finding that Appellant's primary claim was that the filing of a bankruptcy proof of claim was a "tort." Appellant filed a motion to reconsider directing the Court's attention to those obvious errors. Respondent filed a response actually admitting to several of the errors. **R.69.** Regardless, the lower court denied the motion to reconsider with a Form 4, correcting none of the errors.

## ARGUMENTS

### Standard of Review

The question of personal jurisdiction over a nonresident Respondent is one which must be resolved upon the facts of each particular case. *Engineered Prods. v. Cleveland Crane & Eng'g*, 262 S.C. 1, 201 S.E.2d 921 (1974). The decision of the trial court should be affirmed unless unsupported by the evidence or influenced by an error of law. *Engineered Prods.*, 262 S.C. at 4, 201 S.E.2d at 922; *see also Hammond v. Cummins Engine Co.*, 287 S.C. 200, 336 S.E.2d 867 (1985) (stating that this Court is bound by Circuit Court's finding that nonresident Defendant is subject to its jurisdiction absent determination that Circuit Court's ruling is without evidentiary support or controlled by error of law); *Industrial Equip. Co. v. Frank G. Hough Co.*, 218 S.C. 169, 173, 61 S.E.2d 884, 885 (1950) ("This Court has adhered to the rule that a finding by the Circuit Court as to jurisdiction or lack of jurisdiction will not be disturbed on appeal unless wholly unsupported by the evidence or manifestly influenced or controlled by error of law.").

It is well-settled that the party seeking to invoke personal jurisdiction over a non-resident Defendant via our long-arm statute bears the burden of proving the existence of personal jurisdiction. *Southern Plastics Co. v. Southern Commerce Bank*, 310 S.C. 256, 423 S.E.2d 128 (1992); *Aviation Assocs. & Consultants, Inc. v. Jet Time, Inc.*, 303 S.C. 502, 402 S.E.2d 177 (1991); *South Carolina Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Basnight*, 346 S.C. 241, 551 S.E.2d 274 (Ct. App. 2001). At the pretrial stage, the burden of proving personal jurisdiction over a nonresident is met by a prima facie showing of jurisdiction either in the complaint or in affidavits. *Mid-State Distribs., Inc. v. Century Importers, Inc.*, 310 S.C. 330, 426 S.E.2d 777 (1993); *White v. Stephens*, 300 S.C. 241, 387 S.E.2d 260 (1990); *International Mariculture Res. v. Grant*, 336 S.C. 434, 520 S.E.2d 160 (Ct. App. 1999).

**I. THE LOWER COURT'S DECISION CONTAINED NUMEROUS ERRORS OF FACT THAT WERE WHOLLY UNSUPPORTED BY THE RECORD**

Appellant's motion to reconsider made 12 specific arguments with regards to errors in the lower court's Order dismissing the case. Respondent admitted at least 4 of these errors in its response to Appellant's motion. While some of the errors were harmless with regard to the ultimate issue decided, several of the errors were substantive and all of them are wholly unsupported by the record. For purposes of efficiency, only the substantive factual errors will be addressed herein.

**Appellant never claimed that the filing of a bankruptcy proof of claim constituted a tort**

This is a foundational fact upon which the lower court relied in reaching its decision and it is absolutely false. There are no documents submitted by Appellant that led any support to this finding and counsel for Appellant specifically rejected such an argument at the hearing. Moreover, any judicial filing or act is protected in South Carolina under the theory of judicial immunity and/or absolute immunity. Yet, the very first sentence of the "Argument" section of the Order states that the entirety of the lower court's ruling is premised on this false finding of fact. It is clear that this factual finding is (1) false and (2) necessarily controlled the decision of the lower court. Therefore, the Order must be reversed on this error alone.

**Appellant did present a viable theory of personal jurisdiction in the Complaint**

The Order found that "it is clear from the evidence presented that Plaintiff's underlying theory of long arm jurisdiction was lacking in the original Complaint, and further, was not rectified by any subsequent Affidavit of the Plaintiff." **R. p.4.** This finding is without any support anywhere in the record. The theory of jurisdiction was clearly laid out in the Complaint and further supported by the Affidavit of Plaintiff. More importantly, it was specifically argued to the lower court at the hearing. The entirety of Appellant's jurisdictional argument is based on a single,

uncomplicated theory based on the long-arm statute: Respondent converted the property of Appellant while he was a citizen of South Carolina. This was pled in the Complaint, reiterated to the lower court during the oral arguments at the hearing, and reiterated again in the motion to reconsider. Yet the lower court refused to acknowledge this indisputable fact without any explanation of justification. Once again. It is a material finding of fact that controlled the decision of the lower court, requiring a reversal of the lower court order.

**II. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT RESPONDENT'S DELAY IN FILING ITS MOTION TO DISMISS WAS NOT UNREASONABLE DELAY UNDER *MAYBANK V. BB&T CORP***

Defendant waived any defense based on lack of *in personam* jurisdiction. The controlling case is *Maybank v. BB&T Corp.*, 416 S.C. 541, 787 S.E.2d 498 (2016). The Court in *Maybank* held that a Rule 12(h)(1), SCRCF, defense must be acted upon in a timely manner to be preserved. "A delay in challenging personal jurisdiction by motion to dismiss may result in waiver, even where the defense was asserted in a timely answer. ... Rule 12(h), FRCP, sets only the outer limits of waiver; it does not preclude waiver by implication." *Maybank v. BB&T Corp.*, 416 S.C. 541, 787 S.E.2d 498 (2016). In *Maybank*, the defendant raised the defense of lack of jurisdiction in its Answer, but failed to make a motion to dismiss until one month before trial. In addition, the defendant engaged in written discovery during the pendency of the action. Based on these facts, the Court found the defendant waived its defense based on lack of *in personam* jurisdiction.

The facts in this case are nearly identical to those in *Maybank*. On January 19, 2018, the parties received notice that this matter was scheduled for trial during the week of February 26, 2018. Defendant made this motion to dismiss two weeks after that notice, little more than three weeks before it was scheduled for trial. Also in this case, Defendant engaged in written discovery

and took the deposition of Plaintiff. Respondent inexplicably and unreasonably delayed in seeking a dismissal, resulting in a waiver of that defense under *Maybank*.

The lower court made argued that *Maybank* was distinguishable from this case because of the length of the delay was longer in *Maybank*. But this was fundamentally flawed. The defendant in *Maybank* removed the action to federal court, resulting in a motion to remand. Under federal law, the federal court could not make any decision with regards to personal jurisdiction prior to deciding the motion to remand. A federal court must remand for lack of subject matter jurisdiction notwithstanding the presence of other motions pending before the court. *See, e. g., Marathon Oil v. Ruhrgas*, 145 F.3d 211 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1998) (holding that district court should have considered motion to remand for lack of subject matter jurisdiction before it addressed motion to dismiss for want of personal jurisdiction); *Toumajian v. Frailey*, 135 F.3d 648, 655 (9th Cir. 1998) (holding that district court should have remanded for lack of subject matter jurisdiction and should not have dismissed on grounds of ERISA preemption); *Avitts v. Amoco Prod. Co.*, 53 F.3d 690, 693 (5th Cir.1995) (per curiam) (holding that district court had no jurisdiction to order interim costs and attorneys' fees where action should have been immediately remanded for lack of subject matter jurisdiction); *In re Bear River Drainage Dist.*, 267 F.2d 849, 851 (10th Cir. 1959) (holding that motion to remand for lack of subject matter jurisdiction necessarily precedes motion to dismiss). Thus, the defendant in *Maybank* could not have obtained a ruling on any motion to dismiss filed in federal court before remand to state court.

The actual ruling in *Maybank* was based on two primary factors. First, the defendant waited more than a year after remand to state court before making its motion to dismiss. Second, the motion was not made until the trial date was approximately one month away. *See Maybank*,

at 565-566. The South Carolina Supreme Court specifically stated its reasoning in determining that the defendant waived its defense of personal jurisdiction:

In our opinion, BB&T Corporation gambled that it could argue personal jurisdiction on the eve of trial after actively participating in litigation over the course of two and a half years. *Maybank*, at 566.

This is exactly what Respondent did in this case. *Maybank* controls and this matter should be remanded for trial.

### **III. THE LOWER COURT'S DECISION WAS CONTROLLED BY TWO SUBSTANTIVE ERRORS OF LAW AND MUST BE REVERSED**

At the pretrial stage, the burden of proving personal jurisdiction over a nonresident is met by a *prima facie* showing of jurisdiction either in the complaint or in affidavits. *Mid-State Distribs., Inc. v. Century Importers, Inc.*, 310 S.C. 330, 426 S.E.2d 777 (1993); *White v. Stephens*, 300 S.C. 241, 387 S.E.2d 260 (1990); *International Mariculture Res. v. Grant*, 336 S.C. 434, 520 S.E.2d 160 (Ct. App. 1999). However, the lower Court erred in finding that Appellant failed to establish a *prima facie* case for jurisdiction. Appellant's affidavit clearly establishes a *prima facie* case that Respondent committed a tort (conversion) while Appellant was a citizen and resident of South Carolina. He asked for all records pertaining to the collateral in 2010 and was given nothing. He asked again in 2016 and was told, for the first time, that the contents of the vault were removed prior to the bankruptcy. As specifically argued to the lower court, Appellant's *prima facie* claim is established through the (1) original bankruptcy claim filed by Respondent in 2007 which asserted under oath that it held the collateral in its vault; (2) the 2010 request for all records pertaining to his loans, his bank accounts, and any other dealings with Respondent that was never responded to; (3) the subsequent amended proof of claim that made no mention of the collateral or its disposition; (4) Appellant's affidavit that he has been a citizen of South Carolina since 2010; and (5) the first notice Appellant received that his collateral was no longer in the vault in 2016.

This establishes that between 2007 and 2016, the collateral was converted, and that Appellant was a citizen of South Carolina in 2010. Appellant recognizes that if the collateral was converted in 2007, 2008, or 2009, Respondent's argument gains validity. However, due to the conflicting representations of Respondent with regards to the vault contents, the issue of when the conversion happened is for the jury to determine. Even so, the dismissal by the lower court was an error and must be reversed.

The only "proof" offered by Defendant is an unverified, unsigned, sheet of paper they claim indicates the items were removed. The vice-president of Respondent admitted in his deposition that he never authorized the release of the collateral from the vault and the bank conducted no investigation of the removal of the collateral from the vault. More importantly, there is no affidavit or other legally admissible evidence from any person stating that they released the vault contents to the rightful owner, Appellant. Plaintiff specifically denies he received the items from the vault. *Appellant Affidavit.*

The lower court's failure to recognize that Appellant met its prima facie burden is a critical error of law that requires reversal. Once this error was made, it necessarily controlled the remaining analysis and findings of the lower court as there is no explanation of how a single, unverified sheet of paper with nothing but initials on it (which is directly contradicted by a sworn statement to a federal bankruptcy court) can overcome the prima facie case established by Appellant and justify a dismissal with prejudice. Therefore, the lower court must be reversed.

### **CONCLUSION**

The lower court made numerous errors of law and fact that are completely unsupported by the record. This amounts to an abuse of discretion requiring reversal of the Order and remanding

for further proceedings. Therefore, Appellant respectfully requests that this Court reverse the Order dismissing this case and remand for trial to take place at the earliest possible convenience.

August 13, 2020