**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
in the Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM COURT OF COMMON PLEAS  
Aiken County, South Carolina

HONORABLE MAITE M. MURPHY, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE  
Civil Action No. 2017-CP-02-00283  
Appellate Case No. 2019-001142

**SOHAIL ABDULLA,**  
APPELLANT

v.

**SOUTHERN BANK,**  
RESPONDENT

**RECEIVED**

**Aug 18 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

---

**RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

Mark L. Wilhelmi  
Attorney at Law  
SC Bar No. 006103  
3527 Wheeler Road, Suite 401  
Augusta, GA 30909  
706-868-9646  
[mark@markwilhelmilaw.com](mailto:mark@markwilhelmilaw.com)  
Attorney for Respondent



**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
in the Court of Appeals**

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

Prior to this date on May 19, 2017, Appellant’s counsel emailed Respondent’s counsel and requested he be allowed to send “some general discovery requests to see if your proof with regards to the removal of the jewelry? If there is nothing in there, then my advice would be for this to go away immediately.” (R-159). Subject to Defendant’s reservation of right as to jurisdiction, Respondent filed a Response to Appellant’s First Interrogatories and Request for Production of Documents. Answer to Interrogatory No. 5 specifically listed the full names of two (2) bank employees who witnessed the release “rel” of all collateral in the vault owned by Sohail Abdulla on March 9, 2004. Attached was the bank vault Ledger which clearly confirmed the collateral was released (“rel” 3-09-04, SH, KSC”) (R-51, R-49, R-138--Response to Interrogatories and Request for Documents).

On March 29, 2018, just prior to the scheduled Motion to Dismiss hearing, Appellant filed a Response to the Motion to Dismiss (R-58--Response to Motion to Dismiss). In his Response, Appellant reaffirmed that he was not a resident of South Carolina until 2010. He stated he had filed Chapter 11 Bankruptcy and that Respondent had filed a Proof of Claim (R-100) in 2007. More importantly, Appellant stated “On September 20, 2011, Defendant (Respondent) filed an “Amended Claim” in the same bankruptcy court, also under oath, declaring it still held the same items belonging to Plaintiff in its

vault. Neither of these claims were ever amended.” Appellant went on to state “Defendant certified, under oath, that it still held Plaintiff’s valuables in its vault on September 20, 2011. Defendant cannot change its story now that it is convenient to do so.” Appellant argued that Defendant was barred by the Doctrine of Equitable Estoppel from now claiming the contents of the vault were taken *prior* to the bankruptcy proceeding. Unfortunately, for Appellant, his interpretation of the Proof of Claim was totally incorrect and false. To the contrary, Respondent filed an ***unsecured*** Amended Proof of Claim (R-137) which clearly indicated that Respondent held no further collateral of Sportsman’s Link, Inc. or any of the collateral set forth in the underlying Promissory Note and Security Agreement, including contents held in the bank vault which were in fact released March 9, 2004 (R-138). Appellant’s Response went on to argue that because Respondent had filed an Amended Proof of Claim on September 20, 2011 allegedly showing that Respondent still held the contents of the vault on that date, then by the mere fact that Appellant had moved to South Carolina in the year 2010, this would be considered “a tortious act in whole or in part of this state” which applies to injuries resulting from out-of-state acts or admissions. Appellant went so far as to state “in this case, the tort complained of by Plaintiff (conversion) occurred while Appellant was a citizen of South Carolina.” In other words, Appellant’s entire legal argument for jurisdiction was based upon the incorrect interpretation that Respondent had filed a “secured” Amended Proof of Claim in 2011, when in fact, the claim was filed as unsecured (R-137). Keep in mind that this allegation was also made knowing full well that Respondent had already provided through correspondence and Request for Production of Documents and Interrogatories, proof that the items in question had been released to Appellant March 9, 2004. Appellant’s Response to Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss, dated March 29, 2018, was the first time Respondent was given any information concerning Appellant’s actual but incorrect theory of Long Arm Jurisdiction in the State of South Carolina.

On April 2, 2018 prior to the hearing on Motion to Dismiss, Respondent also filed a Supplemental Response to Appellant's Response to Defendant's Motion to Dismiss (R-66) which outlined the complete fallacy of Appellant's legal argument of Long Arm Jurisdiction based upon an entirely wrong interpretation of facts.

At the Motion to Dismiss hearing on April 2, 2018, Respondent informed the Court that Appellant's entire claim of jurisdiction was premised upon an alleged conversion (tort) occurring on or after 2010, based solely on the 2011 Proof of Claim that Appellant incorrectly interpreted as a "secured claim" that allegedly showed the jewelry was still in the possession of Respondent. Without the Proof of Claim argument there is no viable allegation of conversion after 2010 (i.e. tortious injury) (R-80--Transcript). Appellant attempted to salvage his argument by stating "it's not that they committed a tort in filing a claim with the Bankruptcy Court, it's that they told the Bankruptcy Court they had it and we didn't find out they didn't until after Mr. Abdulla became a resident of this state. And "if" the jewelry was removed or converted while he was a resident of South Carolina, the Long Arm Statute applies.....that's how judicial estoppel and Long Arm Statute work to give this Court jurisdiction." (See R-80--Transcript pg. 15, lines 6-18). Again, as stated above, Appellant incorrectly informs the Circuit Court that we told the Bankruptcy Court that we had the jewelry by the unsecured Proof of Claim filed September 20, 2011. Appellant's argument of collateral estoppel against Respondent goes out the window because of Appellant's incorrect interpretation of the 2011 Proof of Claim. The 2007 Proof of Claim is immaterial since Appellant admits he did not move to South Carolina until 2010. Furthermore, Appellant does not like to mention that we have evidentiary proof from the records of Respondent confirming the jewelry in question was removed from the bank vault on March 9, 2004.

Appellant also argued to the Court that "our argument is it was taken out of the vault and was either converted or negligently allowed to leave the vault after Mr. Abdulla was a citizen of South Carolina. That is a tort that causes damages in this state which is clearly under the Torts Claim Act....

(R-80—Transcript, pg. 14) the tort occurred while he was a citizen of South Carolina and jurisdiction applies.” This rationale also clearly shows that Appellant was still arguing, incorrectly, that the 2011 Proof of Claim (R-137) was filed as secured. For Appellant to now argue that he “never claimed that the filing of the bankruptcy Proof of Claim constituted a tort” is disingenuous at best. Without Appellant’s incorrect argument about the 2011 Proof of Claim, Appellant has no other evidence to refute Respondent’s evidence which shows the contents of the vault were removed March 9, 2004 (R-138). The Proof of Claim and alleged conversion argument go hand in hand.

Appellant again argues the theory of jurisdiction was “clearly” laid out in the Complaint and further supported by the Affidavit of Plaintiff. Although Appellant alleges that jurisdiction is proper pursuant to the South Carolina Long Arm Statute, there is nothing further in the Complaint that would show any type of basis for Long Arm jurisdiction. Appellant further states, “Respondent converted the property of Appellant while he was a resident of South Carolina.” How Appellant can make this absurd statement is beyond belief. Evidence in the record clearly shows that contents were removed March 9, 2004. Respondent’s unsecured Proof of Claim dated September 20, 2011 clearly negates Appellant’s “judicial estoppel” argument and Appellant’s contrived theory that somehow Respondent removed the contents of the vault on or after the year 2010. These are the indisputable facts that the lower Court was presented with when it issued its Order Dismissing the case.

At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Murphy indicated she was taking the matter under advisement. As set forth in the transcript, Respondent had prepared a proposed Order which was presented to the Court (See R-80 Transcript of Hearing, page 19, line 16).

Subsequent to the hearing on April 2, 2018, Appellant submitted his own “1st” proposed Order Denying Motion to Dismiss (R-53) to Judge Murphy. Respondent filed a Letter Brief with the Court, dated April 12, 2018 (R-133), pointing out Appellant’s lack of legal understanding with respect to Respondent’s unsecured Proof of Claim. To the amazement of Respondent, Appellant’s proposed Order

stated again “Defendant never amended that claim to indicate that Plaintiff took or was in possession of the items it originally claimed it held in the vault.” Even though this issue was discussed in detail at the Motion to Dismiss hearing and in Respondent’s Supplemental Response to Plaintiff’s Response to Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss, Appellant still did not comprehend the facts. Appellant went on to argue again in his proposed Order that “Defendant certified, under oath, that it still held Plaintiff’s valuables in its vault on September 20, 2011.” “.....when a party has formerly asserted a certain version of the facts in litigation, he cannot later change those facts when the initial version no longer suits him.” Needless to say, Respondent has never changed its version of the facts.

Upon Appellant receiving Respondent’s Letter Brief of April 12, 2018 (R-133) pointing out the numerous inconsistencies, Appellant then submitted a “2nd” proposed Order (R-76) to the Court to which Defendant responded in Letter Brief dated April 16, 2018 (R-139). In Appellant’s second proposed Order, the argument of jurisdiction based upon an Amended Proof of Claim dated September 20, 2011 which was used to allege proof of timing of conversion (tort) against Appellant, after he moved to South Carolina, was entirely removed from the proposed Order. In effect, this was an acknowledgement by Appellant that no personal jurisdiction existed in the State of South Carolina. Appellant’s second proposed Order changed the entire argument to focus on the timing of Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss and disingenuously argued that Respondent had “waived any defense it had to personal jurisdiction under the law established in Maybank.” Appellant did not bother to inform the Court that a Consent Scheduling Order had been entered by the Court February 22, 2018 which clearly acknowledged and reserved Respondent’s rights under its previously filed Motion to Dismiss, dated February 2, 2018 (R-7--Scheduling Order).

On May 11, 2018 (and May 22, 2018), the Court issued its Order Dismissing Case for lack of personal jurisdiction in the State of South Carolina (R-1). On May 21, 2018, Appellant filed his Motion to Reconsider (R-62) including twelve (12) designations of error. In Error #2, Appellant stated “Plaintiff

has never argued that Defendant's filing of an unsecured Amended Proof of Claim on September 20, 2011 was a tortious act which conferred Long Arm Jurisdiction over Defendant. Such an allegation does not exist in any pleading, motion or other filing with this Court." Appellant merely argues semantics to cover up his mistake. This argument is wholly contradicted by Appellant's Response to Motion to Dismiss and attached Affidavit dated March 29, 2018, as well as Appellant's first proposed Order Denying Motion to Dismiss. Appellant's entire argument of a Tort (conversion) is tied to his misinterpretation of the filing of the 2011 Amended Proof of Claim. Without any evidence that Respondent still held the collateral in 2011, Appellant is forced to acknowledge the fact the collateral was released from the bank in 2004 which is six (6) years prior to Appellant moving to South Carolina. Appellant's argument for jurisdiction has been a moving target and an ever evolving manipulation of facts. Respondent filed a Response to Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider dated May 29, 2019 (R-69). Every numeration of error was addressed in Respondent's Response. Appellant argued in the Motion to Reconsider, and continues to argue in his appeal, that "that the theory of jurisdiction was clearly laid out in the Complaint and further supported by the Affidavit of Plaintiff" (See R-62--Motion to Reconsider, Paragraph 11). How Appellant can continue to make such assertions given the facts and evidence presented in this case is beyond rational comprehension.

More important is Appellant's total omission to cite a specific subpart of S.C. Annotated Sect. 36-2-803, upon which he relies to confirm Long Arm Jurisdiction. Appellant continuously alleges "tortious act" while he was a resident of South Carolina. Clearly, 36-2-803 (3)-Commission of a Tortious Act in Whole or in Part in this State; does not apply. Appellant acknowledges that the collateral in question was held in the bank vault of Southern Bank in Waynesboro, Georgia at all times. Since Appellant is relying on 36-2-803 (4), Appellant still has not met his burden of proof. Subpart 4 specifically provides "causing tortious injury or death in this state by an act or omission outside the state if he regularly does or solicits business, engages in any other persistent conduct, or derives substantial

revenue from the goods used or consumed or services rendered in the state”. Neither Appellant’s Complaint nor his Affidavit allege that Respondent regularly does or solicits business.....engages in any other specific conduct, or derives substantial revenue, etc. As cited in *International Mariculture Res. v. Grant*, determination of personal jurisdiction over a non-resident involves a two-step analysis: 1) Trial Judge must determine that the Long Arm Statute applies and 2) the Trial Judge must determine that the non-resident’s contacts with the state are sufficient to satisfy due process requirements. Appellant conveniently omits any discussion or analysis of this very crucial requirement. Appellant’s theory of jurisdiction was clearly not laid out in the Complaint or his Affidavit. Appellant literally has no justification whatsoever under any legal theory he has proposed for Long Arm jurisdiction against Respondent in the State of South Carolina.

The docket shows the case was dismissed effective May 11, 2018. Although Appellant had filed a Motion to Reconsider, no official denial of that Motion to Reconsider was filed by the Court until June 13, 2019 (R-8). During that one year period, there was no follow-up by Appellant with Judge Murphy requesting that the Motion to Reconsider be ruled upon. It was Respondent who subsequently followed-up with Judge Murphy on the issue of Motion to Reconsider. This was due to the fact that Appellant now has since filed a **second** lawsuit against in the State of South Carolina, Case No. 2018-CP-02-02912, where Appellant is now arguing a different theory of jurisdiction involving the same underlying Promissory Note and Security Agreement by and between Respondent and Sportsman’s Link, Inc., along with other numerous other frivolous allegations involving the other Georgia loans. Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss for lack of jurisdiction in that case which is still pending.

**B. Issue Number Two (as labeled by Appellant)**

*The Circuit Court did not err in finding that Respondent has not waived its jurisdictional defense by unreasonable delay under*

*Maybank v/ BB&T Corp., 416 S.C. 541, 787 S.E.2d 498 (2016)*

Appellant claims that the Circuit Court erred in finding that Respondent's participation in certain limited discovery, before obtaining a ruling on personal jurisdiction, constitutes a waiver *by implication* of Respondent's defense of personal jurisdiction, even though set out clearly and indeed comprehensively in its Answer "Second Defense". The Circuit Court correctly applied the test of *Maybank v. BB&T Corp.*, 416 S.C. 541, 787 S.E.2d 498 (2016). Its reasons for finding no waiver are clearly stated in its Order at p. 4. The court below clearly points out the two relevant points. First, the court notes that the discovery in question was conducted as an accommodation to Appellant in the hope that such might "expedite the disposition of the case". Second, the court points out that the discovery addressed questions directly relating to Appellant's jurisdictional theory. To find an implied waiver under these circumstances would be to allow Appellant to use his own lack of candor, stonewalling and delay against Respondent. Respondent's counsel does not wish to embitter this issue or to make any unseemly comments, but he must confess to a feeling of being taken advantage of.

The facts of *Maybank* are not remotely close to the fact scenario in the present case. At the specific request of Appellant, Respondent responded to Plaintiff's First Interrogatories and Request for Production of Documents., rather than insisting on a ruling first on the personal jurisdiction defense, because Appellant through counsel by email dated May 19, 2017 (R-159), stated, "I understand the claims of the bank and I have my own concerns about some of the issues. Can I just send you some general discovery requests to see your proof with regards to the removal of the jewelry? It may expedite the disposition of this case..... If nothing is there, then my advice will be for this to go away immediately." (R-139--Letter Brief, dated April 16, 2018, pg. 3, 2<sup>nd</sup> paragraph with attached email, etc.)

The responses and documents provided to Appellant in Responses to Interrogatories and Request for Production of Documents (R-50) on July 13, 2017, clearly showed that all contents of the vault were removed March 9, 2004. The full names of the individuals who witnessed the removal were also provided. Respondent also provided written verification from the bank vault Ledger. Needless to say, this was just a ploy by Appellant to continue further discovery.

Respondent also allowed Appellant to take the deposition of Mr. Ralph Dickey on March 15, 2018. Respondent did this as a concession so that it could take a brief deposition of Appellant, Sohail Abdulla, to confirm when Appellant actually moved to the State of South Carolina. In that deposition, Appellant confirmed, under oath, that “I have been living in Aiken (SC) since 2010.” (R-143--Deposition, pg. 5, line 4). Further, Respondent also asked Appellant “but all the loans you did with Southern Bank, formerly known as Bank of Burke County, all these were done in Georgia, correct?” to which Appellant responded, “Yes.” (R-143--Deposition, page 11, lines 9-15). Up until this point in time, Respondent had *no* information to verify Appellant’s current address. Respondent wanted this information in preparation for Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss hearing which was already scheduled for April 2, 2018.

Most importantly, Appellant knows full well that Respondent never intended to waive its jurisdictional defense and did nothing that would justify the implication that it did waive it. Specifically, Appellant and Respondent, by and through their attorneys, entered into a Consent Scheduling Order with the Circuit Court, said Order being entered February 22, 2018 (R-7). This Order was entered three (3) weeks before the March 15, 2018 depositions and approximately five (5) weeks prior to the already scheduled April 2, 2018 Motion to Dismiss hearing. The Order clearly provides that 1) discovery will be complete on or before May 30, 2018, and 2) this matter will not be eligible for trial before June 15, 2018. The Order specifically provides these discovery and trial timelines to allow “the Court to hear Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss which is currently scheduled for April 2, 2018.” Respondent’s Motion


to Dismiss and Affidavit had been filed February 2, 2018 prior to the entering of this Order. Appellant's lack of candor to this Court with respect to this issue is distressing. It is, in fact, Appellant who has waived this argument.

### CONCLUSION

Respondent never waived its defense of lack of personal jurisdiction. Appellant understandably attempted to obscure his theory of personal jurisdiction, but he finally admitted that it is based on the theory that Respondent committed a tort outside of South Carolina (alleged conversion of assets held in Georgia, by acts in Georgia). This means that Respondent, to be subject to such personal jurisdiction, not only would have to have committed a tortious act outside of South Carolina (which Respondent did not), which caused injury within South Carolina (which any alleged conversion of Georgia assets, even if such had occurred, would not have done), but also that Respondent would have to have "regularly [done] or solicit[ed] business or engag[ed] in any other persistent conduct or deriv[ed] substantial revenue from goods used or consumed or services rendered in the state". S.C. Code 36-2-803(a)(4). Not only did Appellant not allege this, but Respondent, after Appellant had conducted discovery, provided *uncontradicted* proof that it did not do any of these things.

Accordingly, Respondent requests this Court affirm the lower Court's Order Dismissing the case for lack of jurisdiction and Appellant's Appeal be denied pursuant to Rule 220(c).

This 18<sup>th</sup> day of August, 2020.

  
\_\_\_\_\_  
Mark L. Wilhelmi  
SC State Bar Number 006103  
Attorney for Southern Bank

3527 Wheeler Road, Suite 401  
Augusta, Georgia 30909  
Telephone: (706) 868-9646  
Fax: (706) 868-9647  
[mark@markwilhelmilaw.com](mailto:mark@markwilhelmilaw.com)

THE SOUTH CAROLINA COURT OF APPEALS

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